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BEFORE: COMBS, CH EF JUDGE; MANULTY, JUDGE; M LLER, SEN OR
JUDGE. !

COVBS, CHI EF JUDGE: Realty Inprovenent Co., Inc. (Realty

| nprovenent) petitions for review of an opinion of the Wrkers’
Conpensati on Board which affirnmed a decision of the

Adm ni strative Law Judge (ALJ). Because of Realty |nprovenent’s
intentional violation of two safety regul ations which resulted

in the death of its enployee, R cky Raley (Raley), the ALJ

! Seni or Judge John D. Mller, sitting as Special Judge by Assignnent of the
Chi ef Justice pursuant to Section 110(5)(b) of the Kentucky Constitution and
KRS 21.580.



i ncreased the death benefit owed to his estate by the 30%

penalty provided in KRS? 342.165(1). On appeal, Realty

| mprovenent argues that only incone benefits — as distinguished
fromdeath benefits -- are subject to enhancenent by the safety
penal ty.

In addition to the issue of the proper application of
KRS 342.165(1), Realty Inprovenent also challenges the ALJ s
award on procedural grounds. It contends that it was deni ed due
process of law by the failure of the claimant to provide its
correct address on the “Application for Resolution of Injury
Cainm (Form101). As a result, Realty Inprovenent argues that
it was not nade aware of the claimfor the 30% penalty in tinely
fashion in order to provide an adequate defense. It also clains
that the ALJ abused his discretion in failing to grant its
notion to re-open proof tinme after it actually |earned of the
pending claim Finding no error, we affirm

The facts are not in dispute. On Cctober 22, 2002,
whil e working for Realty Inprovenent, Raley died froma closed
head injury that he suffered when he fell thirty feet off a
roof. As a result of this accident, Realty I nprovenent was
penal i zed by the Kentucky Labor Cabinet for violating 29 CFR®

1926.501(b)(11) (failure to provide Raley with fall protection

2 Kent ucky Revised Statutes.

3 Code of Federal Regul ations.



equi pnrent) and 29 CFR 1926.503(a) (failure to provide himwth
fall protection training).

Ral ey died wi thout dependents. Realty | nprovenent
paid his estate a |lunp sum death benefit of $54,089.28 pursuant
to KRS 342. 750(6), which provides as foll ows:

In addition to other benefits as provided by
this chapter, if death occurs within four
(4) years of the date of injury as a direct
result of a work-related injury, a |unp-sum
paynent of fifty thousand dollars ($50, 000)
shall be made to the deceased’ s estate, from
whi ch the cost of burial and cost of
transportation of the body to the enpl oyee’'s
pl ace of residence shall be paid. Annually,
t he comm ssioner shall conpute, in
accordance with KRS 342. 740, the increase or
decrease in the state average weekly wage,
and consistent therewith, shall adjust the
anmount of the | unp-sum paynent due under
this subsection for injuries occurring in

t he succeedi ng year.

On Cctober 29, 2003, Raley's administrator filed a
cl ai m seeking an additional sumequal to 30% of the death
benefit pursuant to KRS 342.165(1). The Form 101 submitted by
the adm nistrator incorrectly identified Realty |Inprovenent’s
address as the address where the accident occurred. However,
the “Citation and Notification of Penalty” forns issued by the
Kent ucky Labor Cabinet, which were subnmtted with the Form 101,
contained Realty Inprovenent’s correct address. Raley’s
adm ni strator also provided the correct address for Realty

| nprovenent’s insurer, Ladegast & Heffner C ains Service.



On January 20, 2004, Realty Inprovenent, by counsel
filed a Notice of CaimbDenial (Form 111), contesting any
l[iability for the safety penalty provided by KRS 342.165(1). On
April 6, 2004, counsel submtted a “Statenment of Proposed
Stipulations, Notice of Contested Issues, and Wtness List,” in
whi ch he identified the sole issue for resolution by the ALJ as
the propriety of the application of the 30% safety penalty to
death benefits. On April 16, 2004, after attending a benefit
revi ew conference, counsel entered an agreenent that the fatal
acci dent “was caused in sone degree by the intentional failure
of the enployer to conply with a safety statute or regulation.”

By agreenment, the matter was submitted to the ALJ for
resolution on the record without the presentation of any
evidence. Realty Inprovenent filed its brief on May 3, 2004. A
week later, after the briefing period had ended, Realty
| mprovenent filed a notion seeking to renove the matter from
subm ssi on and sought to re-open the proof tinme. Counse
contended that after he was asked by Realty |nprovenent’s
i nsurance carrier to provide representation, he nade severa
unsuccessful efforts to contact Realty |Inprovenent at the
address provided on the notices generated by the Ofice of
Wrkers’ Caims (ONC) — the incorrect address contained on the

Form 101. Wen he received no response from Realty | nprovenent,



counsel stated that he assuned that the conpany did not want to
contest the underlying facts of the claim

Subsequent |y, counsel discovered that Ral ey’ s persona
representative had provided to the OAC an incorrect address for
Real ty | nprovenent and that the enpl oyer had not received notice
of the claim Wthout specifying what evidence it m ght assert
in order to defeat the claimfor enhanced benefits, Realty
| nprovenent asked for an opportunity to present evidence in its
defense. The notion was deni ed.

On June 17, 2004, the ALJ issued his opinion and
award. He determined that the death benefit paid pursuant to
KRS 342. 750(6) constituted proper conpensation within the
meani ng of KRS 342.165(1) and awarded $16, 226. 94 (30% of
$54, 089. 28 per the judgnment) in additional benefits to Raley’s
est at e.

Realty Inprovenent filed a notion for reconsideration
and outlined the evidence upon which it relied to preclude the
inposition of the safety penalty. Because of the presence of
frost on the roof on the norning of Raley’'s death, it alleged
that a nmessage had been relayed to its enpl oyees at the
construction site to delay the start of the work day. There was
no fall-protection equipnment at the site because it was not
antici pated that any enpl oyees would be on the roof until the

frost had di ssi pat ed.



The notion for reconsideration was overruled. Realty
| nprovenent appealed to the Board, which affirnmed the ALJ’ s
decision with respect to the proper application of KRS
342.165(1) (incone benefits versus death benefits) as well as
the ALJ's denial of the notion to re-open the proof tine.

In seeking a reversal of an ALJ's award before this
Court, Realty Inprovenment argues that the death benefits
provi ded by KRS 342. 750(6) are not subject to enhancenent by the
penalty inposed for safety violations. KRS 342.165(1) provides:

If an accident is caused in any degree

by the intentional failure of the enpl oyer

to conmply with any specific statute or

| awf ul adm ni strative regul ati on nade

t her eunder, communi cated to the enpl oyer and

relative to installation or maintenance of

safety appliances or nethods, the

conpensation for which the enpl oyer woul d

ot herwi se have been |iable under this

chapter shall be increased thirty percent

(309 in the anpbunt of each paynent.

(Enphasi s added.)

Realty | nprovenent does not dispute that it was |liable
to Raley’s estate for $54,089.28 pursuant to KRS 342. 750(6).
However, it argues that it should not be required to pay the
addi tional 30% penalty as it construes the term conpensation in
the penalty statute as neaning only inconme benefits.

Wthout reference to precedent, Realty | nprovenent

contends that the penalty historically has never been applied to

deat h benefits:



As far as this Appellant can determ ne from

its research, whenever such a penalty has

been awarded in the past, it has routinely

been awarded in relation to incone benefits

only. Through its research, this Appellant

has been unable to discover a single exanple

of a safety penalty having been inposed as

agai nst death benefits under KRS 342. 750( 6)

or, for that matter, as agai nst nedica

expenses, vocational rehabilitation

expenses, or any other benefits except

i ncome benefits. (Appellant’s brief at p.

5.)
Realty I nprovenent al so argues that it is not responsible for a
safety penalty because the death benefits owed to Raley’s estate
were neither “inconme benefits” nor “nedical and rel ated
benefits.” It clainms that conpensation as defined in KRS
342.0011(14) consists of the sumof incone benefits and nedica
and rel ated benefits.

The Board observed that the death benefits provided by
KRS 342. 750(6) possess “characteristics of both ‘incone
benefits’ as well as ‘nedical and related benefits’.” (Board' s
opi ni on of COctober 29, 2004, at p. 11.) However, in lieu of
referring to the various definitions contained in KRS 342. 0011,
the Board focused on the purpose of the safety penalty statute
in order to determ ne the neaning of the term conpensati on as
contenplated by the Legislature in enacting KRS 342.165(1). It
concl uded:

We are convinced that even though KRS

342. 750(6) does not fit neatly with the
definition of conpensation, it nonethel ess
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constitutes a form of conpensation, just as

deat h benefits payable to a surviving spouse

or children under eighteen who are not

wholly or partially dependent upon the

deceased worker constitute conpensation.

(Board’'s opinion at p. 14.)

We agree that the Board correctly perceived the intent
of the Legislature and that it did not err in interpreting the
penalty statute. In reaching this conclusion, we are m ndful of
the directive of KRS 446.080(1) that all statutes are to be
“Il'iberally construed with a viewto pronote their objects and
carry out the intent of the legislature . . . .” In the
particul ar context of workers’ conpensation, we are consci ous of
the principle that the statutes be interpreted “in a manner

consistent with their nmunificent and beneficent purpose.”

Jewi sh Hospital v. Ray, 131 S.W3d 760, 764 (Ky.App. 2004).

The purpose underlying KRS 342.165(1) was exanined in

Apex M ning v. Blankenship, 918 S . W2d 225, 228 (Ky. 1996), in

whi ch the Suprene Court observed that the goal of KRS 342.165
“is to pronote workpl ace safety by encouragi ng workers and
enpl oyers to follow safety rules and regul ations.” The Court
concl uded that:

Consistent with its purpose of preventing
wor kpl ace injuries, KRS 342.165 inposes a
nonetary penalty for certain safety
violations. KRS 342. 165 penalizes enpl oyer
m sconduct with a 15% increase in each
paynent of “conpensation” for which the

4 This percentage was increased to 30%in 2000.
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enpl oyer woul d ot herwi se have been |iable

and penalizes worker m sconduct with a 15%

decrease in conpensation. Regardless of

whet her the penalty is conmputed as a

function of an inconme benefit or other

conpensation, the penalty clearly is not an

i ncone benefit
Id. (Enphasis added.)

Ral ey’ s adm ni strator points out that Realty
| nprovenent’s interpretation of the penalty statute woul d
produce the incongruous result of inposing a snaller penalty for
causi ng an enployee’s death rather than his injury. Needless to
note, such an outcone could not advance the purpose of the
statute. The enployer’s intentional violation of a safety
statute or regulation triggers the penalty. The conpensation to
be awarded under the Act flows (regardless of its nature as
i ncome or death benefit) fromsuch conduct and results in the
penalty. In the context of pronoting safety, the overriding
statutory objective is the protection of all enployees —
regardl ess of marital status or nunber of dependents. W hold
that the Board did not err in affirmng the ALJ' s award.

Real ty | nprovenent next argues that it was denied the
opportunity to defend the claimfor increased benefits. As the
enpl oyer and the real party in interest, Realty |nprovenent was

entitled to procedural due process, including notice of the

claimand the opportunity to be heard. See, Anmerican Beauty

Hones Corp. v. Louisville & Jefferson County Pl anning & Zoni ng
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Conmi ssion, 379 S.W2d 450 (Ky. 1964). In addition, 803 KAR

25:010 8 3(2) requires all clainms to be served “on all parties.”

Section 3(3) of that sane regulation requires all pleadings to
be served upon “all other parties . . . or, if represented, to
that representative, at the party’' s or representative’ s | ast
known address.” It is apparent fromthe record that Realty
| nprovenent was not served with the Form 101.

Inits review, the Board concluded that Realty
| nprovenent was not entitled to be relieved of the ALJ's award
by its failure to receive notice of the claimfiled by Raley’'s
estate:

Qur review of the record indicates that
the notice sent to Realty Inprovenent was
returned to the Departnent of Workers’

Cl ainms as undeliverable and that a nmeno was
directed to the ALJ on January 8, 2004,
noting the sanme. However, |ess than four
days | ater counsel for Realty Inprovenent
entered its [sic] appearance of record.
More than five and one-half nonths |ater,
wi t hout ever having been in direct contact
with his client, counsel entered into the
stipul ati on addressing the safety
regul ati on. We wonder out |oud why
correspondence fromthe Ofice of Wrkers’
Clainms directed to Realty | nprovenent was
returned yet counsel’s correspondence was
not. Nonethel ess, the correct address for
Real ty | nprovenent was contained on the
“Citation and Notification of Penalty”
appended to the Form 101 and was in the
possessi on of counsel. Furthernore, the
correct address of Realty | nprovenent was
avai |l abl e from Ladegast & Heffner and a

5 Kent ucky Administrative Regul ati ons.
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mnimal inquiry early on could surely have
put counsel and client in contact.

It has |ong been accepted that the fact

finder has the authority to control the

taki ng and presentation of proof and it is

not unreasonable for an ALJ to either direct

addi tional proof to be presented or prohibit

evidence in order to maintain a reasonabl e

el ement of due process [citations omtted].

Here, the ALJ refused to all ow additiona

proof after the claimhad al ready been

subm tted and briefed. There was no abuse

of discretion. (Board’ s opinion at pp. 15-

16.)

We find no error in the Board s resolution of the
i ssue. Although the address given for Realty |Inprovenent on the
Form 101 was incorrect, it evidently sufficed to provide notice
of the claim Realty Inprovenent suffered no jeopardy and was
represented by | egal counsel throughout the entire proceedi ng.
Its counsel filed a response, entered into stipulations,
appeared at a benefit review conference, and filed a brief on
Realty I nprovenment’s behalf. At no time prior to the subm ssion
of the case did counsel notify the ALJ or opposing counsel of
his difficulty -- belatedly asserted -- in contacting or
communicating with his client. Under these circunstances, we
hol d that counsel’s know edge of the claimis properly inputable
to Realty Inprovenent and that it is duly bound by the vigorous
representation provided by its counsel in its defense.

The opinion of the Wrkers’ Conpensation Board is

affirned.
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Al CONCUR

BRI EF FOR APPELLANT: BRI EF FOR APPELLEE HAROLD W
RALEY, ADM NI STRATOR, ESTATE
Douglas A. U Sellis OF RI CKEY RALEY, DECEASED:

Loui svill e, Kentucky
John M Lally

Loui svill e, Kentucky
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